RECEIVED

Jan 04 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Edgar W. Dickson

Civil Action No.: 2020-CP-32-00005
Appellate Case No. 2021-000597

R. Kent Porth and Panorama Point, LLC.....Appellants,

v.

Robert P. Wilkins, Jr., RPW Development, Inc.,
Southern Visions Realty, Inc., and
Consolidated Multiple Listing Service,
Inc.,.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Clarence Davis (SC Bar I.D. #1581)
GRIFFIN | DAVIS LLC
4408 Forest Drive, Suite 300 (29206)
Post Office Box 999
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 744-0800
cdavis@griffindavislaw.com

Attorney for Appellants

Issues Presented

- I. Did the Lower Court err by failing to address the specific incidents of extrinsic fraud involving the Fraudulent Documents?
- II. Did the Lower Court err by failing to take the allegations of the Complaint with respect to the dates of discovery of the Appellants' various injuries as true, and by failing to make all reasonable inferences from those allegations in favor of the Appellants, in response to the Respondents' pre-answer motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6)?
- III. Did the Lower Court err by failing to address the Appellants' various arguments that the fraudulent and illegal acts of the Respondents, constituting unclean hands, either tolled or equitably barred the Respondents from raising any statute of limitations defense?
- IV. Did the Lower Court err by holding that the Appellants' breach of fiduciary duty claims are not equitable, and therefore not exempt from the application of any statute of limitations defense under the South Carolina Supreme Court's holding in Thomerson v. Devito, 430 S.C. 246, 844 S.E.2d 378 (S.C. 2020)?
- V. Did the Lower Court err by holding that the Appellants are charged with knowledge of the law in direct contradiction to the statutory provisions of S.C. Code Ann. §§40-57-135, 137 and 139, and in direct contradiction of the statutorily enacted public policy of South Carolina?
- VI. Did the Lower Court err by failing to address the Appellants' argument that their reliance on the fiduciary status of the Respondents, and on Respondent Wilkins' status as a licensed attorney was a reasonable basis under South Carolina law for not performing due diligence on the legality of the Respondents' conduct prior to January 10, 2017?
- VII. Did the Lower Court err by holding that Title 40, Chapter 57 of the South Carolina Code Annotated does not authorize private causes of action for breach of fiduciary duty for violations of

its various statutory fiduciary requirements of disclosure and written consent set forth in S.C. Code Ann. §§40-57-135, 137 and 139?

VIII. Did the Lower Court err by holding that laches applies to the Appellants' based on the allegations of the Complaint?

IX. Did the Lower Court err by considering documents not part or outside of the record, and by taking judicial notice of "the knowledge of Appellant Porth" from unreliable sources without compliance with Rule 201 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence in considering a pre-answer Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss?

X. Did the Lower Court err in holding that the Appellants were *in pari delecto* with the alleged fraudulent, unlawful, and deceptive conduct of the Respondents based on the allegations of the Complaint?

XI. Did the Lower Court err in granting the Respondents' Motions to Dismiss since the dates of discovery of the facts and circumstances of the Appellants' various injuries are questions of fact?

XII. Did the Lower Court err in holding that the Complaint failed to state causes of action for unjust enrichment, quantum meruit and restitution?

XIII. Did the Lower Court err by dismissing the Appellants' claims with prejudice?

Procedural History

R. Kent Porth and Panorama Point, LLC (the "Appellants") filed a civil action for breach of fiduciary duty, violations of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (the "UTPA"), and other related causes of action on January 2, 2020 in the Court of Common Pleas for Lexington County (the "Complaint") against Robert P. Wilkins, Jr. ("Wilkins"), RPW Development, Inc. ("RPW"), and Southern Visions Realty, Inc. ("SVR")(collectively the "Respondents"). The

Consolidated Multiple Listing Service (the “CMLS”) was named in the Complaint, but the Appellants did not serve the CMLS, and are not pursuing any claims against the CMLS. The Appellants granted an extension of time to file an answer to the Complaint pending a voluntary mediation which occurred on August 6, 2020, and which was unsuccessful.

On May 6, 2020, prior to filing an answer to the Complaint, the Respondents filed their original Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure seeking to dismiss the Complaint based on the assertion that all causes of action were barred by the statute of limitations (the “First Motion to Dismiss”). On September 18, 2020, the Appellants filed their first brief in opposition to the First Motion to Dismiss (“Appellants’ Brief No. 1”) in response to the Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss. On October 9, 2020, the Respondents filed an Amended Motion to Dismiss reasserting the statute of limitations defense, and moving to “dismiss the Complaint on the grounds that the facts as stated do not give rise to a cause of action.” On October 20, 2020, the Appellants filed a brief specifically in opposition to the Amended Motion to Dismiss (“Appellants’ Brief No. 2”). On November 16, 2020, the Respondents filed a Memorandum of Law in Support of their First Motion to Dismiss and their Amended Motion to Dismiss (the “Respondents’ November 16, 2020 Memo”). On December 10, 2020, the Appellants filed a third brief (Appellants’ Brief No. 3”) addressing the additional grounds and arguments set forth in the Respondents’ November 16, 2020 Memo.

Oral arguments on the Respondents’ Motions to Dismiss were heard on December 16, 2020 by Judge Edgar W. Dickson. On February 16, 2021, Judge Dickson entered an Order Granting Motion to Dismiss (the “Order”). On February 26, 2021, the Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider under Rule 59(e)(the “Rule 59(e) Motion”). On March 11, 2021, the Respondents filed a brief opposing the Rule 59(e) Motion (the “Respondents Rule 59 Brief”). On March 23, 2021,

the Appellants filed a brief in support of their Rule 59(e) Motion (the “Appellants’ Brief No. 4). On March 31, 2021, the Respondents filed a sur-reply opposing the Appellants’ Rule 59(e) Motion. On May 5, 2021 the Lower Court denied Appellants’ Motion to Reconsider and issued an order leaving the Order in effect (the “Rule 59 Order”). On June 4, 2021, the Appellants filed a Notice of Intent to Appeal pursuant to Rule 203 of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules.

In this appeal, the Appellants seek reversal of the Lower Court’s Order which dismissed the Appellants’ Complaint with prejudice prior to the Respondents filing an answer.

Factual Background of Case

This case arises from alleged fraudulent, unlawful, and deceptive acts of self dealing by the three separate Respondents, acting in concert and in violation of their respective fiduciary duties, related to the development, marketing and sale of various properties in the Panorama Point subdivision on Lake Murray in Lexington County (hereinafter the “Properties”).¹ The Properties had been owned by various members of Appellant Porth’s family since 1950, and the Properties comprised one of the most valuable undeveloped tracts of lakefront real estate on Lake Murray in 2006 when the development of the Properties began. In 2006, the Porth and Wilkins families had maintained a decades’ long friendship which materially influenced the Appellants’ trust in the Respondents with respect to the development, marketing and sale of the Properties.

The Appellants were first put on inquiry notice of the Respondents’ various fraudulent, unlawful and deceptive conduct and the corresponding breaches of fiduciary duty and acts of self dealing which form the basis of this litigation on January 10, 2017. Although the development

¹The Appellants allege that the Respondents’ fraudulent, illegal and deceptive conduct goes far beyond the Respondents conduct with respect to the Properties. Specifically, the Appellants allege that the pattern of conduct alleged in this case has occurred in several other real estate developments, and has damaged other unrelated sellers and competing CMLS members for many years and in hundreds of additional transactions. (R. p. 90 ¶354, p. 117 ¶ 468).

and marketing efforts of the Respondents with respect to the Properties had been ongoing since 2006, their wrongful conduct had been fraudulently and intentionally concealed from the Appellants prior to January 10, 2017. The Respondent's involvement with the Properties continued through May 11, 2017, when the relationship was terminated by the Appellants as a result of the findings of the Appellants' due diligence efforts which began on January 10, 2017. (R. pp. 55-59 ¶¶142-165). The Properties subject to this litigation were sold in 23 different transactions totaling over \$6,100,000 in gross proceeds. (R. pp. 59-64 ¶¶166-198).

On January 10, 2017, after the closings of all 23 transactions which are the subject of this litigation, the Appellants "relisted" their remaining 3 parcels of the Properties with a different licensed real estate agent who for the first time (i) provided the Appellants with the "agency disclosure" mandated by S.C. Code Ann. §40-37-139², (ii) requested that the Appellants execute the written agency agreements (also referred to as "listing agreements") and other forms mandated under the various provisions of Title 40, Chapter 57 of the South Carolina Code Annotated, and (iii) requested that the Appellants execute forms required under the rules of the CMLS through which the Properties were to be marketed (collectively the "Required Listing Documents"). (R. pp. 55-59 ¶¶142-165). The purposes of the Required Listing Documents were to (i) provide material and statutorily mandated disclosures of the Appellants' legal rights and the fiduciary obligations of the real estate professionals, (ii) to set forth the material terms of the agency relationship being entered into, and (iii) have the Appellants make elections and choices as to certain material terms of the listings and the methods to be used in the marketing of the

² All references herein to the South Carolina Code Annotated are to the Code as in effect at the relevant times. For example, Title 40, Chapter 57 was substantially amended effective as of January 1, 2017 (after all of the conduct subject to this action), and many of the relevant sections were renumbered (i.e. §40-57-139 was renumbered as §40-57-370 effective as of January 1, 2017).

Properties. Prior to January 10, 2017, the Appellants had been denied these material, fiduciary disclosures, and the opportunity to make the material elections and choices set forth therein.

As a result of having been presented for the first time with the Required Listing Documents on January 10, 2017, the Appellants began performing factual and legal due diligence as to why the Required Listing Documents had never been presented to the Appellants by the Respondents. (R. p. 58 ¶¶159-160). As part of their due diligence in early 2017, the Appellants requested the Respondents to provide copies of all documents relative to their work on the Properties, and to provide full and immediate disclosure of all previously undisclosed acts of the Respondents in their fiduciary capacities related to the development, marketing and sale of the Properties (all requested documents and disclosures referred to herein as the “Disclosure Request”). (R. pp. 73-74 ¶¶277-279). On or around May 24, 2017, the Respondents retained Rex Casterline (“Casterline”) of Blair Cato Pickren Casterline, LLC (“Blair Cato”) to handle the Appellants’ Disclosure Request. (R. p. 75 ¶¶284-286). The Respondents, with Mr. Casterline’s assistance, delayed the response to the Disclosure Request for over 15 months until August 28, 2018. (R. pp. 75-82 ¶¶286-317). A full response to the Disclosure Request has not yet been made. (R. pp. 81-82 ¶¶315-317).

During the Appellants’ due diligence, and as specifically set forth in the Complaint, the Appellants discovered that the Respondents’ development, marketing and sales efforts related to the Properties had been expressly prohibited under multiple provisions of Title 40, Chapter 57. The Appellants also discovered that the Respondents had engaged in acts of self dealing in violation of the Respondents’ various fiduciary duties to the Appellants. For example, the Appellants discovered that the Respondents had violated the rules of the CMLS in all 23 transactions involving the Properties. The CMLS rule violations promoted the self interest of the

Respondents (i.e. larger commission payments) over the financial interests of the Appellants (i.e. higher sales prices and quicker sales) by hiding the available listings of the Properties from competing members of the CMLS for the vast majority of the time the Properties were available for purchase. (R. pp. 43-44 ¶¶83-86, pp. 52-54 ¶¶129-141). Under the clear and unambiguous rules of the CMLS, the Properties could not be withheld from the CMLS data base (and other CMLS members) without the informed and written consent of the Appellants. Informed and written consent of the Appellants was not obtained in direct violation of CMLS Rule 1(b)(3), and in breach of the Respondents' fiduciary duties of disclosure and loyalty. (R. pp. 42-44 ¶¶77-86).

The Respondents' failure to expose the Properties to the full real estate market materially damaged the Appellants by generating below fair market value sales prices, and a substantially slower rate of sales. The several thousand competing members of the CMLS³ were damaged by the lack of access to the hidden listings of the Properties as they had paid several hundred dollars a year in annual CMLS dues for access to all listings of other members in strict accordance with the CMLS rules. (R. pp. 43-44 ¶¶83-86, p. 54 ¶141, p. 85 ¶¶328-330, p. 116 ¶464-465). The Appellants were not members of the CMLS, and had no access to the rules, bylaws or website of the CMLS. (R. pp. 58-59 ¶¶161-165). As part of their due diligence efforts after January 10, 2017, the Appellants arranged for access to the CMLS rules, bylaws and historical database for periods prior to January 10, 2017 to determine the extent of the Respondents' wrongful conduct under the CMLS rules. (R. p. 58 ¶¶159-160).

The Appellants allege the purpose of the Respondents' fraudulent, unlawful and deceptive conduct was to wrongfully increase the amount of, and total percentage of the commissions paid to the Respondents on the sales of the Properties. (R. p. 54 ¶141). Essentially, the Respondents

³ The CMLS website currently claims over 500 member real estate firms and over 3,500 member agents.

attempted to limit the marketing of the Properties to individuals within the Respondents' sphere of influence who could be represented by SVR. By representing both the seller and the purchaser in a transaction, SVR would receive one hundred percent (100%) of the available commission instead of only fifty percent (50%). The Respondents illegally represented both the Appellants and the purchasers in 18 of the 23 transactions without the dual agency agreements mandated by S.C. Code Ann. §40-57-137(M)(1) or any of the other required fiduciary disclosures. The Respondents' wrongful conduct in marketing the Properties violated the clear and unambiguous provisions of SVR's Policy Manual which was required by S.C. Code Ann. §§40-57-135(A)(8) and 137(B), thereby proving the knowing and willful nature of all of the Respondents' violations relative to the Properties. (R. pp. 67-68 ¶¶219-223, pp. 89-90 ¶¶351-352).

The Appellants allege that the three Respondents in the aggregate (i) violated over 20 sections of Title 40, Chapter 57; (ii) violated at least 5 provisions of Title 40, Chapter 1; (iii) violated at least 9 different rules of the CMLS; (iv) violated CMLS rules specifically modified by at least 4 provisions of Judge Solomon Blatt, Jr's Final Order (the "Blatt Final Order") dated August 17, 2009 approving a voluntary settlement in the matter of *United States v. Consolidated Multiple Listing Service*, Case No. 3:08-CV-01786-SB, a United States Dept. of Justice action against the Columbia/Lexington CMLS for anti-competitive practices and violations of the federal Sherman Act; (v) constituted willful and knowing violations of Title 39, Chapter 5 (the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act "the UTPA"); (vi) violated the common law of agency and fiduciary duty in South Carolina; (vii) violated numerous provisions of the SVR "policy manual"; (viii) violated multiple rules of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct (the "SCRPC") since Respondent Wilkins was a licensed attorney in South Carolina; and (ix) constituted fraud

under South Carolina law (all such alleged violations collectively referred to herein as the “Respondents’ Violations”). (R. pp. 187-188, 225-237).

The Appellants brought equitable actions for breach of fiduciary duty, restitution, unjust enrichment, quantum meruit, and conversion seeking disgorgement and restitution of all unlawful compensation with prejudgment interest. The Appellants brought additional claims for constructive fraud, negligence, negligent representation, and an action under the UTPA. In addition to disgorgement and restitution of the unlawful compensation, the Appellants seek additional damages arising from the below fair market value sales prices, increased interest costs on infrastructure loans resulting from delayed sales, and other damages such as increased legal and accounting fees arising from the delayed sales; all of which were the direct result of the Respondents’ breaches of fiduciary duty and acts of self dealing. Due to the “knowing and willful” nature of the Respondents’ fraudulent, unlawful and deceptive conduct, the Appellants seek mandatory treble damages and attorney fees under their UTPA claim pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §39-5-140.

On November 21, 2019, a mere 42 days prior to the filing of the Complaint, Respondents’ current attorney, Mr. Eric Bland of Bland Richter, LLC, voluntarily produced 2 “examples” of fraudulent “listing agreements” (the “Fraudulent Documents”) which had been previously concealed from the Appellants. (R. pp. 189, 206-207, 219-221, 240-244, 324). The documents are fraudulent in that they were created and executed by the Respondent Wilkins and others without any authority from the Appellants, were created for the purpose of “papering the files”, were factually inaccurate, and the mere existence of the Fraudulent Documents was intentionally and

fraudulently denied and concealed from the Appellants until November 21, 2019.⁴ (R. p. 82 ¶317). On August 27, 2018, in response to a specific due diligence question from the Appellants, Mr. Casterline stated in writing that “my client has made a diligent search of all files related to Panorama Point and **does not have copies of the listing agreements during the applicable time period.**”(emphasis added)(the “Casterline Representation”). (R. p. 82 ¶319). The November 21, 2019 production of the Fraudulent Documents by Mr. Bland irrefutably proves the Casterline Representation was false as the two Fraudulent Documents are dated May 16, 2011 and November 11, 2012, and were in the possession of the Respondents on August 27, 2018 when the Casterline Representation was made. Based on the dates of the Fraudulent Documents, they had been concealed from the Appellants for at least 7 years.⁵ After filing the Complaint and engaging in informal settlement negotiations, the Appellants’ attorney sent a formal written request to Mr. Bland on July 14, 2020 requesting the immediate production of the balance of the Fraudulent Documents and all other documents created and signed “on behalf of” the Appellants (the “Fraudulent Document Request”). (R. pp. 201-202). The Respondents have refused to respond to the “Fraudulent Document Request”, therefore this incident of “extrinsic fraud” is ongoing as of today.⁶

⁴ The dates on the two Fraudulent Documents correspond to the dates the two subject parcels were published to the CMLS database, not the date the two parcels were first marketed by the Respondents as required by S.C. Code §40-57-135(C)(4).

⁵ Without Discovery, the Appellants lack sufficient knowledge at this point to determine if the Casterline Representation was a knowingly false statement by Mr. Casterline, or whether the Fraudulent Documents had been concealed from Mr. Casterline by the Respondents.

⁶ By voluntarily producing the two Fraudulent Documents, the Respondents’ attorney waived any claim of confidentiality or privilege with respect to those and any other similar fraudulent documents. Such Fraudulent Documents were never confidential or privileged under SCRPC Rule 1.6, and were at all times subject to disclosure under Rule 1.6.

Standard of Review

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