RECEIVED

Jan 04 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Eleventh Judicial Circuit

Honorable Edgar W. Dickson

Case No.: 2020-CP-32-00005
Appellate Case No. 2021-000597

R. Kent Porth and Panorama Point, LLC, Appellants,

v.

Robert P. Wilkins, Jr., RPW Development, Inc., Southern Visions Realty, Inc., and
Consolidated Multiple Listing Service, Inc., Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS ROBERT P. WILKINS, JR., RPW
DEVELOPMENT, INC., AND SOUTHERN VISIONS REALTY, INC.**

David W. Overstreet
SC Bar No. 16965
Steven R. Kropski
SC Bar No. 101441
Ryan M. Gunther
SC Bar No. 104141

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

In other words, if the Developers believed at the time of these transactions that the Realtors may not have been entitled to compensation they received, or that the Realtors had not performed their services consistent with their standard of care, they could have easily looked into the South Carolina Code and identified the very same allegations asserted in their untimely Complaint. Yet, the Developers waited over 14 years to claim that the compensation agreement with the Realtors was “unlawful.”

Furthermore, the allegations of the Developers' Complaint itself acknowledge that they had prior notice of alleged potential shortcomings by the Realtors but did not timely pursue a

remedy for alleged harm. For instance, the Developers allege that by May 2013, they had “evidence of [Realtors’] negligence, incompetence, and lack of attention in performing their duties for which they received the Development Fee.” (R. pp. 86-88). Likewise, on December 31, 2013, in connection with the sale of “Lot 15,” Developers discovered that Respondent Wilkins allegedly had an undisclosed conflict of interest in the form of a prior business relationship with the purchaser, for whom an alleged unnecessary \$2,500 credit was negotiated by Wilkins. (R. pp. 68-70). Each time, the Developers were on notice of alleged failures or wrongdoings by the Realtors, but did not act promptly or diligently to determine if they had a “right that had been invaded.” *Snell*, 276 S.C. at 303 278 S.E.2d at 334.

Here, it is indisputable that the allegations of Developers’ Complaint acknowledge being on notice of alleged “negligence” or “incompetence” of the Realtors long before filing of this action in January 2020. Thus, the Trial Court did not err in holding the statute of limitations barred the Developers’ Action.

B. The Trial Court correctly held that laches also bars Developers’ Claims

As an alternative sustaining ground, to the extent that any claims are deemed to be equitable, the Trial Court also held that the doctrine of laches barred such claims.

The equitable doctrine of laches is defined as “neglect for an unreasonable and unexplained length of time, under circumstances affording opportunity for diligence, to do what in law should have been done.” *Hallums v. Hallums*, 296 S.C. 195, 198, 371 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1988). “Under the doctrine of laches, if a party, knowing his rights, does not seasonably assert them, but by unreasonable delay causes his adversary to incur expenses or enter into obligations or otherwise detrimentally change his position, then equity will ordinarily refuse to enforce those

rights.” *Chambers of S.C., Inc. v. County Council for Lee County*, 315 S.C. 418, 421, 434 S.E.2d 279, 280 (1993).

Here, the allegations of the Complaint expressly acknowledge that despite notice of the Realtors’ alleged “negligence” and “incompetence,” the Developers did not pursue any action against the Realtors while the Realtors were making the Developers millions of dollars in sales. Rather, only after the Realtors were no longer useful to the Developers did they belatedly pursue this lawsuit⁶. This inequity was specifically noted by the Trial Court in ruling that laches barred the Developers claims, the Trial Court specifically noted:

Accepting the allegations of the Complaint to be true, the Complaint alleges that the Plaintiffs were aware of the Defendants alleged improper conduct, yet continued to accept the benefit of their services in the development and sale of the Property.

(R. p. 4).

Furthermore, a specific element of laches is the prejudice resulting from the claimant’s delay in asserting their rights. *Id.* In the matter at bar, the Developers’ belated lawsuit prejudices realtors in two obvious ways.

First, it is established in the Complaint that compensation earned by the Realtors extends back to January 2007, fourteen years prior to commencement of the lawsuit. (R. p. 59). The last payment was earned by the Realtors in May 2015, approximately five years prior to commencement of the action. (R. p. 63).

⁶ The Trial Court specifically noted that the Developers continued to accept the benefit (i.e. millions of dollars) of the Realtors work, despite knowledge of alleged “negligence,” “incompetence” and “breaches of duties” no later than 2013. Based upon these actions, the Trial Court determined that the Developers’ claims were also barred under the theory of unclean hands and/or *in pari delecto*. (R. p. 19). Although the Developers set forth a separate issue on appeal objecting to the Court’s dismissal for unclean hands and/or *in pari delecto*, the reasoning for dismissal under those doctrine is the same as for the Trial Court’s application of the doctrine of laches.

Under the Developers' theory, real estate agents would effectively never be able to realize any compensation, as the threat of a client seeking to disgorge the realtor's commission based upon an alleged technical violation of S.C. Code §40-57-5 et seq would go on in perpetuity. Such a result is precisely what the equitable doctrine of laches seeks to avoid.

Furthermore, under S.C. Code § 40-57-135(D)(1), brokers-in-charge are only required to retain documents related to a transaction, including listing agreements, for a period of five (5) years. In this action, the Developers seek to use the alleged lack of "listing agreements" as evidence of their claim, despite the fact that the Realtors had no legal obligation to retain such documents as of the date the Developers' lawsuit was filed. This too supports a finding that laches bars the Developers' claims.

Accordingly, the trial Court correctly held that as an additional sustaining ground, laches barred the claims being asserted by the Developers. (R. p. 18).

II. The Trial Court correctly held that no private cause of action exists under S.C. Code §§40-57-135 and 40-57-137

In sum and substance, Developers' 92 page, 473 paragraph Complaint can be summarized in a simple manner. Plaintiffs allege that if a real estate agent does not obtain a specific document entitled "listing agreement," then the seller of real estate, who benefits from the realtor's services, does not need to pay the real estate agent. In other words, under the Developers' theory, a seller can exploit the hard work of a real estate agent, and then refuse to pay their realtor once the sale is closed. The Developers seek to obtain this windfall despite no allegation that they were actually injured due to the alleged lack of document entitled "listing agreement."

The allegations in the Complaint do not allege that the Developers incurred any damages caused by the lack of a document entitled “listing agreement,” nor does the Complaint allege that the compensation paid to the Realtors was not known to and agreed upon by the Developers. Rather, the Developers’ lawsuit is a blatant attempt to obtain a windfall to which they had no expectation at the time of the subject sales, based upon the Developers’ perception that they discovered a loophole (an alleged technical violation of the statute).

However, the statute does not allow private actions to punish alleged technical violations, nor does it provide for statutory damages to private parties. This is consistent with long standing South Carolina law. *Overcash v. South Carolina Elec. and Gas Co.*, 364 S.C. 569, 575, 614 S.E.2d 619, 622 (2005)(A private party may not use the statute alone as her basis for a civil action seeking damages absent specific authorization in the statute).

Rather, the statute expressly provides that enforcement of the statutory requirements is vested exclusively in the South Carolina Real Estate Commission.

The statutory section relied upon by the Developers states:

A licensee may not advertise, market, or offer to conduct a real estate transaction involving real estate owned in whole or in part by another person without first obtaining a written listing agreement from the owner and when advertising or marketing in any medium including site signage, a licensee clearly shall identify the full name of the company with which the licensee is affiliated. Brokers-in-charge who are members of a multiple listing service must be allowed to make their company listings available for any cooperative marketing or advertising program, subject to the rules and regulations of the multiple listing service and with the consent of the owner. Consent may be contained and obtained from the owner through the listing agreement.

S.C. Code § 40-57-135(C)(4)(2004).

As is clear from its plain text, the purpose of this statute is the protection of the public from improper behavior by a class of professionals who are licensed by the State of South Carolina. For

example, a real estate agent could be disciplined by the South Carolina Real Estate Commission if she advertised a property to the public that is not actually for sale. The statute is not intended to act as a mechanism for sophisticated, wealthy developers to avoid paying their real estate agents.

Furthermore, nothing in §40-57-135(C)(4) suggests that a compensation agreement between a realtor and the seller must specifically be titled “listing agreement,” as long as the realtor and the seller have agreed in writing to the representation and compensation⁷. Likewise, nothing in § 40-57-135(C)(4) suggests that a realtor who markets and sells property for the benefit of a seller (such as the Developers) is not entitled to a commission simply because the realtor and seller do not execute a specific document entitled “listing agreement.”

In fact, the question of whether the Code authorizes a private cause of action for such an offense is answered by the Code itself. S.C. Code § 40-57-790 (Civil Actions) expressly provides that “[a] civil action may be brought for violations of this chapter as provided for violations of Article 1, Chapter 1, in accordance with Section 40-1-210.” Section 40-1-210 allows only the Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation to institute civil actions through the Administrative Law Court, in the name of the State, “for injunctive relief against a person violating this article, a regulation promulgated under this article, or an order of the board,” and further

⁷ The same statute upon which Plaintiffs rely recognizes multiple alternative relationships between realtors and sellers other than a strict written “listing agreement.” See, S.C. Code §40-57-350(L)(1) (recognizing transactional brokers who may give one or both parties customer service or facilitate the transaction without representing either party); S.C. Code §40-57-350(L)(3) (recognizing that sellers who do not choose to establish an agency relationship but who use the services of the [brokerage] firm are considered customers). Likewise, South Carolina common law has long held that a real estate broker need not have a written commission agreement to be entitled to compensation. *United Form Agency v. Malanuk*, 284 S.C. 382, 384, 325 S.E.2d. 544, 546 (recognizing oral commission agreements for real estate agents as enforceable).

provides “[f]or each violation the administrative law judge may impose a fine of no more than ten thousand dollars⁸.”

The Trial Court correctly held that an alleged statutory violation on its own is insufficient to support a private cause of action. (R. p. 10). Therefore, the Trial Court properly dismissed the Developers’ action.

III. Developers’ remaining arguments are immaterial, and do not allege facts supporting a cause of action under any theory

The Trial Court ruled that, even when accepting all allegations in the Complaint as true, the Developers’ action was untimely. Furthermore, the Trial Court held that the Developers failed to state facts sufficient to plead a cause of action recognized under South Carolina law. (R. pp. 1-21). The reasoning for the Trial Court’s ruling was simple.

First, the facts alleged in the Complaint demonstrated unequivocally that the action was not timely brought. (Id.).

Second, the Developers did not allege facts that would satisfy the elements of any common law cause of action. Rather, each cause of action asserted by Developers relied on the same central argument—that the Developers were entitled to money damages for an alleged technical violation of S.C. Code § 40-57-135. As a technical violation of S.C. Code §40-57-135 on its own does not provide for a private cause of action for damages, the Developers did not state a claim for relief under any theory of recovery. (Id.).

⁸ The statute gives the South Carolina Real Estate Commission exclusive jurisdiction over enforcing the Act, but it expressly allows an injured party to bring common law claims such as negligence or fraud against a licensee. S.C. Code § 40-57-350(M). Thus, an injured party who can satisfy the elements of a common law cause of action is free to pursue a licensee. However, an individual cannot sue a licensee solely on account of a violation of the licensing statute.

Nonetheless, the Developers' attempt to shield the simplicity of the Court's ruling by suggesting that the Trial Court ignored the standard of review on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, and ignored certain immaterial allegations. (App. In. Br. Issues I, III, VI, IX, and X, pp. 11-15, 20-23, 30-32, 37-39). These arguments do not have any relationship to the Court's statute of limitations and laches ruling, nor the existence of a private cause of action under S.C. Code §40-57-5 et seq. Therefore, the arguments are insufficient to support reversal of the Trial Court's ruling.

A. Developers' allegations of extrinsic fraud are immaterial to the Trial Court's grounds for dismissal

In Developers' first issue on appeal, they allege that the Trial Court ignored and did not address alleged "extrinsic fraud" related to alleged "concealment of two alleged listing agreements that the Developers allege were created after-the-fact. (App. In. Brief pp. 11-15). This argument is without merit, as it had no connection to the Trial Court's decision.

Here, the Developers' lawsuit revolves around their allegation that *no* "listing agreements" were ever executed between the Developers and Realtors. In ruling on the motion to dismiss, the Trial Court accepted those allegations as true. (R. p. 4). After accepting those allegations as true, the Court determined that the action was untimely and furthermore, that no private cause of action existed to enforce S.C. Code § 40-57-135, which the Developers allege requires a "listing agreement" in order to receive compensation for a real estate sale. (R. pp. 9-10).

Whether or not any allegedly fraudulent listing agreements were created after-the-fact had no bearing on the Trial Court's decision, as the Court was required to accept as true the Developers' allegation that no document entitled "listing agreement" existed. *Stiles*, 318 S.C. at 298, 457 S.E.2d 602-603 (In considering a 12(b)(6) motion, the trial court must construe all facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom in favor of the nonmoving party.).

Accordingly, the Trial Court did not ignore the Developers' argument that two listing agreements were allegedly created after-the-fact. Rather, the Trial Court construed the Complaint with the broadest possible deference to the Developers—accepting that no “listing agreements” existed in the first place. Even accepting those allegations as true, however, the Trial Court correctly determined that the Developers' action was not viable. (R. pp. 9-10).

B. Allegations of “unclean hands” by the Realtors did not bar Realtors from asserting a statute of limitations defense

The Developers' third issue on appeal appears to suggest that the Realtors were precluded from asserting the affirmative defense of the statute of limitations based upon “the failure of the Respondents to provide the Required Listing Documents prior to January 10, 2017.” (App. In. Br. Pp. 20-24). This argument, likewise, is without merit.

The doctrine of unclean hands “precludes a *plaintiff* from recovering in equity if he acted unfairly in a matter that is the subject of the litigation to the prejudice of the defendant.” *First Union Nat. Bank of SC v. Soden*, 333 S.C. 554, 568, 511 S.E.2d 372, 379 (Ct. App. 1998).

Here, the Realtors are not plaintiffs making any claim for affirmative recovery. Furthermore, the Developers cite to no legal authority supporting their contention that the Realtors were barred from asserting a statute of limitations defense based on “unclean hands⁹.” *Bryson v. Bryson*, 378 S.C. 502, 510, 662 S.E.2d 611, 615 (Ct. App. 2008)(“[a]n issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority.”). Thus, Developers' argument asserting that allegations of “unclean hands” bars a statute of limitations defense is without merit.

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